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NOTLEY HALL
Chaptico
Private 18th century

Notley Hall stands on land once owned by Thomas
Notley, Maryland's eighth proprietary governor. The present
one-story, two-room frame structure is thought to have
been the north wing of the original brick and frame house,
which does not survive. The north wall is of particular
interest, being nearly two feet deep and containing two
chimneys with stacks close together; the south wall
theoretically constituted the north end wall of the larger
central block. The present house is three bays long
and possesses a steeply angled gable roof and a full cellar.

The original narrow, pedimented dormers were recently

replaced by larger ones with flat, shed roofs.

Also see archeological listing.
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DESCRIPTION ~
CONDITION CHECK ONE CHECK ONE
__EXCELLENT __DETERIORATED _UNALTERED X ORIGINAL SITE
X _goob __RUINS X ALTERED _MOVED  DATE
__FAIR __UNEXPOSED

DESCRIBE THE PRESENT AND ORIGINAL (IF KNOWN) PHYSICAL APPEARANCE

Notley Hall is a tall story and half building with clapboard
sides and a brick end containing two chimneys. This brick northwest
wall is laid up in Flemish bond, and is about two feet thick.

The snaces between the sidewall studs are filled with brick, pre-
sumably for insulation.

According to buried foundations the existing portion of the house
is only a small portion of the original house, and the other end
of the house had a solid brick end matching the one that still exig§,-.
The original narrow dormer windows on the roof were replaced by a
large dormer with a shed tvoe roof in 1928, The old kitchen on the
northeast end was also renlaced at that time,

There is a partial cellar under the main vart of the house. The
floor and walls are unfinished red clay. The joists above the rellar
are suonorted by a hewn beam about 20 inches square and 20:feetiong,

The inside doors are hand made originals., They are only about
three-fourths of an inch thick and appear to be identicle to the
doors in the Bachelors Hope house, which is about three miles
north of Notley Hall and was also built by Governor Notley.

CONTINUE ON SEPARATE SHEET IF NECESSARY
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—TRANSPORTATION

W OTHER (SPECIFY)

Historic

SPECIFIC DATES Circa 1668

BUILDER/ARCHITECT UUnknown

STATEMENT OF SIGN!FICANCE

Notley Hall was a vpart of several tracts of land granted to
Dr, Thomas Gerard by Cecilius Calvert, Second Lord Baltimore. After
Gerard became involved in Fenuall's Rebellion in the 1650's he
fled to Virginia, abandoning his oroverty, and Notley Hall and
Basford Manor became the proverty of Thomas Notley, the eighth
Provorietary Governor of Marvland.

Governor Notley built the house at Notley Hall and made it his
home., The date of construction is not known, but it is mentioned
frequently in the »nrovincial records, which indicate that Notlevy
was living there in the 1660's,

N LT

After Notlev's death, Charles Calvert, Third Lord Baltimore,
bought all of his property, which included Basford Manor, Bachelors

Honeland Notley Hall. At one time Charles Calvert lived at Notley

Hall™.

CONTINUE ON SEPARATE SHEET IF NECESSARY
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ESCRIPTION St
Check O
CONDITION (Check One)
Excellent [] Good [] Fair Deteriorated [] Ruins [] Unexposed []
INTEGRITY (Check One) (Check One)
Altered K Unaltered [ Moved [] Original Site

DESCRIBE THE PRESENT AND ORIGINAL (If known) PHYSICAL APPEARANCE

Yotlev Hall gives the avpearence that it was once a
much larger bnilding, and burried foundations prove this
to be true. Cver one-half of the house was torn down,
orobably after the War of 1812, and the remaining portion
was revaired and occuvied up to the present time, The shed
type dormer window was added in recent years., Originally
the dormers were the narrow gabled colonial tyne. The one
brick end which remains is nearly two feet thick, and con-

ovvogite end which was removed was also brick. The clavboard
sides are insulated with brick, between the studs, A massive
hewn oaken beam apvroximately 18 by 24 inches thick which
suvports the center of the building can be seen in the
cellar. The view of the Wicomico and Potomac Rivers from

the site is superb. The building is in fair condition and
could be easily restored to its original condition., Some of
the original woodwork and hand made doors still remain.

tains two large chimneys. The foundations indicate that the ¢ .-
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE (Include Personages, Dates, Events, Etc.)

The o0ld Notley Hall house was built by Governor Thomas
Notley, the eighth governor of Maryland.Notley also built
Bachelors Hope, but Notley Hall was his home, It was built
on the 500 acres of St, Clement's Manor land he nurchased
from Dr. Thomas Gerard in 1663. Therefore the house was
orobablv built shortly after that. Notley Hall is mentioned
in the early records and the Archives of Maryland many times,

According to the early records Charles Calvert, Third
Lord Baltimore once lived at Notley Hall. James Walter Thomas
Yientioned this in the Ghronicled Cf Colonial Marvland:

"Motlev Hall, on the "icomico and adioining Basford Manor
was the home of éovernor Thomas Notlev, He sold it to Lord
Baltimore, who owned it for manv years., Baltimore was deorived
of it after the Protestant Revolution in Marvland, but it was
restored to him in 1692, by order of the Council,”
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ARCHEOLOGICAL SITE
s M -77
NOTLEY HALL

Chaptico

Private 17th century

The present house at Notley is a winoc of the

“17th century Notley Hall, by tradition the home of

Governor Thomas Notley in 1673. There are indications

of foundations of the main block to the west of the

surviving structure. See S M -77.

SM-77
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November 17, 1011

Letter of Transmittal

TO: Wayne Clark

Fnclosed is a copy of Dennis Pogue's report: Archaeological
Investigations at Notley Hall (18 ST 75), St. Mary's County, Maryland.
The report is the product of a research project coordinated by the
Regional Center and funded privately by Richard and Tina Martin, the
owners of Notley Hall. While the project is a classic study in
restoration archaeology, it goes beyond this basic aim to solve some
of the persistent architectural traditions and mysteries of the
structure. Dennis has effectively shown that the building is not
the remaining wing of a large 17th century structure, traditionally
associated with Governor Notley. But rather he has demonstrated
that the extant structure probably dates to the third quarter of
the, 18th century and it was preceeded by an earlier 18th century
structure on the site. Both structures utilized reused 17th century
"Dutch"” yellow brick in their construction, which perhaps explains
the traditional belief that the extant Notley Hall is 17th century.
The well-known local author Robert Pogue showed Dennis and I a large
17th century site about a mile away which is most surely the source
of the yellow brick and is perhaps Governor Notley's Notley Hall.

In the report Dennis describes and analyzes the architectural remains
and the 18th century artifacts which he discovered. The report will
be a valuable source for researchers of 18th century sites and I
think that Dennis has made a significant contribution to archaeology,
architectural history and local history.

Michael A. Smolek
Regional Archaeologist

— 1dm
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SEE COfY OF THIS REPORT, ON FILE WITH WAYXNE CLARK, -MARYLAND
HISTORICAL TRUST ARCHEOLOGICAL FILES, 11/1981, FOR FULL
DISCUSSION OF CONJECTURAL ORIGINAL HOUSE FORM/PLAN, AND

AS MODIFIED.

ARCHAEOLOGICAL INVESTIGATIONS AT NOTLEY HALL
(18sT75), ST. MARY'S COUNTY, MARYLAND

By

Dennis J. Pogue

October 1981
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ITI. ARCHITECTURAL AND HISTORICAL EVIDENCE

Notley Hall is a modéstly scaled brick and frame structure
whose somewhat unusual dimensions, 22 feet wide by 28 feet 10
inches deep, and massive eight inch thick brick gable wall with
two large chimneys combine to produce a rather novel appearance
(Figures 3 and 4). The Hall is one story high over an almost
complete cellar, with cne large and two small rooms on the
first floor positibned back-to-back and three attic chambers
abeve. Various alterations were made during renovations con-
ducted during the 1930s; the most conspicuous being the addition
of a2 kitchen wing to the south gable end.

While the overall dimensions and out-sized brick end wall
are somewhat unusual, there are at least three houses located

in ﬁeighboring Charles County--The Exchange (CHAS-299), Linden

(CHAS-48), and the Trinity Lake House (CHAS-294)--that possess

vvery similar general characteristics. In the opinion of archi-
tectural historian J. Richard Riviore:

The overall plan and detail of the present building
closely parallels that of a popular house type that devel-
oped in this region during the third quarter of the 18th cen-
tury and was a design much favored by those of fairiy moderate
economic means throughout the second half of the 18th century,
but most especially during the 1780-1800 period. The use nf
a solid masonry wall in a house of this design is believed to
be unique...but it is far from being an unusual treatment,
there being many houses of all ages...in the area that com-

bine brick and frame construction in this manner (Riviore 1981).

POGQ{, gt




Figure 3.

Notley Hzi1l,
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Figure 4. Notley Hall,
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Additional evidence relating to the construction of the
Hall has been uncovered during activities leading to the res-
toration of the structure. Upon removal of interior plaster-
ing from the four walls of the large downstairs room, it be-
came apparent that the brick used as nogging in three of the
walls had been salvaged and subsequently reused. Two of
the three walls are composed of red brick, many of which are
broken and/or exhibit traces of mortar remaining from earlier
use. The third wall, which also extends the entire depth of
the building and as such serves as the south gable wall, is
made up of yellow brick, exhibiting similar characteristics
as the red bricks (Figure 5).

Yellow brick such as those which make up the Hall's south
gable wall have been recovered archaeologically from various
sites located along the Eastern Seaboard (Becker 1977:112).
In addition, such bricks have been recovered from five other
sites.located in St. Mary's Countys St. John's (18ST1-23),
Chancellor's Point (18ST1-63), Ocean Hall (18ST71), Lower
Notley Hall (18ST74), and Mattapany-Sewal (18ST390). 1In
almost every instance these bricks have been recovered from
strong 17th century contexts.

It seems certain that these yellow bricks, of a very char-
acteristic size and color, were imported from Holland. It is
known that Dutch East India merchantmen carried cargoes of
as many as 33,500 yellow brick from Holland to various

colonial outposts during the 17th century. The yellow bricks
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Figure 5. Notley Hall yellow brick nogging.
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incorporated into Notley Hall are extremely similar in size
and general appearance to those recovered from a Dutch mer-
chantman that wrecked off the Australian coast in 1656

(Green 1977:169-172) as well as those retrieved from the

other St. Mary's County sites (Miller, personal communication)
and from Pennsylvania and Delaware (Becker 1977:114-118).

(For measurements of Notley Hall yellow brick, see Appendix A).
The presence of apparently reused yellow brick at Notley Hall
suggests the nearby location of a 17th century site from

which the bricks vwere salvaged.

Very little is now known of the pre-1800 history of Notley
Hall or the property on which it is located. This unfortunate
circumstance stems from the loss in the courthouse fire of
1831 of most of the St. Mary's County land records dating from
before 1800. It is known that the property was patented by
Dr. Thomas Gerard in the year 1650 as part of a 1500 acre
tract known as Basford Manor (Menard 1973:268). Later,

Thomas Notley, governor of the colony from 1676 until his death
in 1679, is thought to have come into possession of the land
and to have resided there (Pogue 197<:132-33).

It has been suggested that Governor Notley res_ded at
Notley Hall, or in an earlier structure thought to have been
located there. However, a positively identified 17th century
site (18ST74) is known to be located along the Wicomico River
less than a mile from Notley Hall. Surface collection of the

area, traditionally known as the site of Lower Notley Hall,

10




has yielded a wide range of 17th century artifacts as well as
a number of yellow brick of apparent Dutch origin. This site
may well have been the source of the yellow brick that has
been reused as nogging at Notley Hall. In addition, the loca-
tion of this site and its undoubted 17th century date greatly
strengthen the possibility that it and not Notley Hall was

the site of Governor Notley's residence.

Notley Hall was owned by the well-known Thomas family of
St. Mary's County until circa 1870. It is not known how long
the property had belonged to the Thomas's, however. Tax
assessments for the years 1793 and 1798 include an Elizabeth
Thomas as a property owner and in 1798 she is listed as own-
ing a "dwelling house...Kitchen...Carriage house...Cornhouse
and stables (and) Meathouse...all one story of wood situated
in the Forrest near Chaptico," Upper St. Clements Hundred.
However, the dwelling house dimensions given in this listing
(30 by 32 feet) do not match that of Notley Hall (28 feet 10
inches by 22 feet) and it remains uncertain whether the
assessed property and Notley Hall were one and the same
(St. Mary's City Commission, partial chain of title).

The somewhat unusual appearance of Notley Hail, the know-
ledge that the tract of land on which the Hall is located was
patented in the 17th century, and the rumor that brick ruins
were located nearby probably combined to form the basis for
the widely held belief that Notley Hall is the survivor, either

in part or as a whole, of a larger 17th century structure.

11
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However, neither the architectural nor the historical evidence
reinforces that belief. Instead, the Hall's architectural
characteristics suggest a construction date of circa 1750-1800
is much more realistic. Further, no evidence exists to support
the contention that the Hall was originally a wing added to a
larger edifice. The presence of reused yellow brick suggests
the location nearby of an earlier structure from which those
brick were gal vaged; that structure may well have been Lower
Notley Hall. Finally, while the available documentary

evidence is slight, it appears much more plausible that Lower

Notley Hall was the residence of Governor Thomas Notley.

12
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V. CONCLUSIONS

Archaeological investigations carried out at Notley Hall
have succeeded in uncovering not only a great deal of additional

information pertaining to the extant structure, but also have

.added significantly to the fund of knowledge about the earlier

occupation of the site. It now appears certain that Notley
Hall is not a survivor of an older building. However, remains
of an earlier structure have been discovered nearby, and it
also appears certain that red bricks from that structure were
salvaged and reused in the construction of Notley Hall. A 17th
century site, Lower Notley Hall, has been found located less
than a mile distant and it appears to have been the source of
a quantity of yellow brick that apparently were salvaged in
order to shore up a weakened wall in the earlier structure and
subsequently, when the 1life of that earlier dwelling no longer
could be extended via repairs, the structure was demolished and
bricks were salvaged and reused along with additional yellow
brick from Lower Notley Hall in the construction oi Notley
Hall.

Trash pit 641B, with its abundance of red and yellow btrick
identical to those found in the Notley Hall nogging, ma% well
represent a refuse deposit dating from the time of the demoli-

tion of the earlier dwelling and the construction of Notley H-11.
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Thus, the artifacts recovered from 641B represent a potentially
very valuable resource in the establishment of a date for the
construction of Notley Hall. However, the retrieved artifacts
cannot be dated more precisely than circa 1720-1775. In combi-
nation with the architectural evidence, which points to a circa
1750-1800 construction date, the 641B artifacts suggest a circa
1750-1775 date for the construction of Notley Hall.

The entire Notley Hall artifact assemblage spans the period
from circa 1720 to the present. Much of the diagnostic 18th
century materials appear to be related to the occupation of the
earlier structure--from the surface collection and trash pit
641B and the plow zone overlying the pit--but a separation of
those artifacts from those associated with the extant structure
is not entirely possible. Based on the hypothesis that the
construction of Notley Hall dates to the period circa 1750-
1775, the earlier structure may date to the period circa 1720-
1750/1775.

Thus, Notley Hall appears to be a mid-to-late 18th century
structure that replaced an earlier dwelling that may have been
built as early as circa 1720 and which underwent various repairs
before its final demise. The construction details of the early
18th century dwelling, with ground-laid sills and a very
irregular floor plan, suggests a relatively informal structure
that was replaced by a more substantial, albeit still some-
what unusual, mid-to-late 18th century building. Both of these
structures in turn appear to have utilized yellow bricks sal-

vaged from the site of Lower Notley Hall.
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